

ST. MARY'S UNVERSITY SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES

INTERNAL CONTROL AND ITS CONTRIBUTIONS TO ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS: A CASE STUDY OF YES BRANDS FOOD AND BEVERAGE PLC.

BY

ENDASHAW ZELEKE

JUNE, 2015

ADDIS ABABA, ETHIPOIA

INTERNAL CONTROL AND ITS CONTRIBUTIONS TO ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS: A CASE STUDY OF YES BRANDS FOOD AND BEVERAGE PLC.

BY ENDASHAW ZELEKE

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO ST.MARY'S UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THEDEGREE OF MASTER ACCOUNTING AND FINANCE

JUNE, 2015

ADDIS ABABA, ETHIOPIA

ST.MARY'S UNIVERSITY

SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES

INTERNAL CONTROL AND ITS CONTRIBUTIONS TO ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS: A CASE STUDY OF YES BRANDS FOOD AND BEVERAGE PLC.

BY ENDASHAW ZELEKE

APPROVED BY BOARD OF EXAMINERS

Dean, Graduate Studies	Signature
••••••	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
Advisor	Signature
••••••	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
External Examiner	Signature
Internal Examiner	Signature

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis is the result of my own original research and that no part of it has been presented for another Degree in the university or elsewhere.

However, works by other authors which served as sources of information, have been acknowledged by references to the authors thereafter.

.....

STUDENT NAME SIGNATURE DATE

St. Mary's university, Addis Ababa

ENDORSEMENT

This thesis has been submitted to St. Ma	ary's university, School of
Graduate Studies for Examination with m	y approval as a university
advisor	
••••••	•••••
Advisor	Signature
St. Mary's university, Addis Ababa	June, 2015

Acknowledgements

My sincere gratitude goes to the almighty God for the gift of life. I owe tones of indebtedness to many people whose invaluable contributions have made this accomplishment a reality. First and foremost, I render my heart-felt thanks to Dr. Samuel Kifle my advisor, for his good advice, criticisms and suggestions throughout the process of the study. His immense contributions went a long way in shaping this work. Am also grateful to the officials of Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC. (Especially Mr. Peter Karatu the Joint General Manager), and to all who through diverse ways helped in the data collection processes.

Special mention to my wife W/o Rahel Gebremariam and my daughter Elshaday Endashaw for their support and contribution to the accomplishment of this project.

Endashaw Zeleke June, 2015 Page | i

LIST OF ACRONYMS

MOI Ministry of Industry

EEPCO Ethiopian Electric Power Corporation (EEPCO),

JV Joint Venture

FMCG Food Manufacturing Company Group

EA East Africa

CAPEX Capital Expenditure

YBFB Yes Brands Food Beverage

CSD Carbonated Soft Drink

CSR Community Social Responsibility

COSO Committee of Sponsoring Organization

CR Control Risk

AR Audit Risk

IR Inherent Risk

DR Detection Risk

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Acknowledgements	i
List of Acronyms	ii
Table of Content	iii
List of Tables	vii
Abstract	viii
CHAPTER ONE	
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the study	1
1.2 The Problem Statement	8
1.3 Research Questions	10
1.4 The Objectives of the Study	10
1.5 Significance of the Research	10
1.6 Limitations of the Study	11
1.7 Organization of the Study	11
CHAPTER TWO	
LITERATURE REVIEW	12
2.1 Definition of Terms	12
2.2 Internal Control Objectives	15

2.3 Types of Internal Controls	17
2.3.1 Directive Controls	17
2.3.2 Preventive Control	17
2.3.3 Compensating Controls	18
2.3.4 Detective Controls	18
2.4 Components of Internal Control	18
2.4.1 Control Environment	19
2.4.2 Risk Assessment	20
2.4.3 Information and Communication	22
2.4.4 Control Activities	22
2.4.5 Monitoring	24
2.5 Internal Control Evaluation	24
2.5.1 Effectiveness of Internal Control	25
2.5.2 Understand and Document the Client's Internal Control	26
2.5.3 Obtaining an Understanding	26
2.5.4 Document the Internal Control Understanding	27
2.5.5 Assess the Control Risk	27
2.5.6 Perform test of Controls Audit Procedures and Reassess Control Risk	28
2.5.7 Perform test of Controls Audits Procedures	28

2.5.8	Reassess the Control Risk	29
2.6	Parties Responsible for and affected by Internal Controls	29
2.7	Limitations of Internal Controls:	30
2.7.1	Judgment	31
2.7.2	Breakdowns	31
2.7.3	Management Override	31
2.7.4	Collusion	32
2.8	What Can Happen When Internal Controls Are Weak Or Non-Existent?	32
СНА	APTER THREE	
RES	EARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	34
3.1 R	Research Design	34
3.2 P	Opulation under Study	34
3.3 S	ample Size	35
3.4 S	ources of Data	35
3.5 R	Research Instruments	35
3.6 N	Methods of Data Analysis	35
СНА	APTER FOUR	
DAT	'A PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS	36
4.1 B	Background Information on Respondents	36

4.1.1 Gender Distribution of Respondents
4.1.2 Educational Attainment of Respondents
4.1.3 Marital Status of Respondents
4.1.4 Job Types of Respondents
4.1.5 Grade/Position of Respondents
4.2 Data Analysis 39
4.2.1 Control Environment of Internal Control Systems
4.2.2 Risk Assessment of Internal Control Systems
4.2.3 Control Activities of Internal Controls Systems
4.2.4 Information and Communication of Internal Control Systems43
4.2.5 Monitoring of Internal Control Systems
CHAPTER FIVE
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION 45
5.1 Summary of Findings45
5.2 Conclusion
5.3 Recommendations
REFERENCES
APPENDIX 52-53

List of Tables

Table 4.1 Sex Distribution of Respondents	36
Table 4.2 Educational Attainment of Respondents	37
Table 4.3 marital status of respondents	38
Table 4.4 Types of Job Performed By Respondents	38
Table 4.5 grade of respondents	39
Table 4.6 Existence of Internal control	40
Table 4.7 types of internal controls	41
Table 4.8 responsibility for setting up internal control	41
Table 4.9 Employees representation in objective setting	42
Table 4.10 Control Activities	42
Table 4.11 Information and Communication of Internal Control Systems	43
Table 4.12 Monitoring of Internal Control System	44

ABSTRACT

Current business trends have made it imperative for almost all large organizations to maintain an internal control system. The Ethiopian manufacturing industry has evolved from a highly regulated sector into a largely market driven one. The regulatory and institutional framework has improved considerably yet still manufacturing industries in Ethiopia are facing some challenges as the world globalization rivalry, technology competence, skilled manpower and etc. Among the objective of the study to examine the measure adapted to enhance the effectiveness of internal controls in yes brands management. The current study was done as objective data was collected and analyzed on a case information by the help of primary data from interview schedules. The purposive type of sampling was used in sampling. All in five respondents were sampled from the thirty (30) respondents under review. The data gathered was analyzed and interpreted by the help of percentages and frequency tables. The findings of the study revealed that there are measures put in place by the Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC to enhance compliance. The measurement put in place is management oversight responsibility for internal control whereby control policies and procedures are being followed to. It came to light that, the internal audit unit was responsible for monitoring internal control policy compliance whiles management assesses risk but the internal audit unit is not part of site operations, they only visit the sites on monthly bases. The recommendations drawn from the study was that the Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC should set internal audit units at their various sites(phases) across the region, so that there shall always be internal audit personnel to ensure compliance to the internal controls that exist in the organization. In view of this, the internal audit personnel's should also be rotated at regular intervals to avoid any form of misconducts.

Keywords /**Phrases:** Effectiveness, efficiency internal control, Internal audit COSO framework.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTIN

1.1Background of the study

Yes Brands Food and Beverages PLC domiciled in Oromiya region, Alemgena town. It was established under Ethiopian commercial registration and business license proc. No. 67/1997 and Federal Regulation No.13/1997 with paid up capital of 60 million Birr. Yes Brands foods & Beverages PLC started as Alemayehu Mineral water factory founded in 2010 with production of bottled water starting in the back end of 2010. Within two years of operation, the company became a major player in the bottled water sector commanding substantial market share in the category. In May of 2013 Alemayehu Mineral Water factory went into a 50/50 joint venture with Catalyst Principal Partners, an Equity fund company registered in Mauritius. A new foods and beverages company under Yes Brands foods & beverages PLC was formed. The JV partner brings into the business a wealth of experience in fast moving consumer goods business gained from their other FMCG businesses within the EA region.

The expansion project is going to be undertaken by Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC established in 2013 with a paid up capital of Birr 444,540,000,000 (Four hundred forty four million five hundred forty thousand Birr) to manufacture bottled water both for the local and the export market. The Company has been operational for the last two year and registered remarkable result. The shareholders are Ato Alemayehu Negussie Tefera and Catalyst Ethiopia FMCG Holdings Plc. Catalyst Principal Partners LLC (www.catalysprincipal.com) manages Catalyst Fund I LLC, a US\$125m private equity fund that invests in mid-sized companies across Eastern Africa, including Ethiopia, Kenya, Uganda, Tanzania, Rwanda, Zambia and Democratic Republic of Congo. The Fund's sector focus includes consumer goods and retail, financial and business services, industrials, manufacturing and value-add processing, technology and telecommunications, with the Fund making strategic minority and controlling equity investments ranging from between US\$5m and US\$20m. The company invested Birr 222,240,000.00, that is, 50% of

the shareholding in Yes Brands Food and Beverages PLC in the name of Catalyst Ethiopia FMCG Holdings LLC.

The promoters have since been joined by a joint venture company that has other fast moving consumer goods business in the East Africa region. The JV partner brings a wealth of experience into the already very well established business. It is therefore expected that the business will make the expansion of capacity a success in the market.

The company increased its capital to Birr 444,540,000.00 as per the written resolutions of the shareholders on May 13, 2013. It is engaged in the business of processing and bottling water for sale to local and export markets. Yes Brands is currently the market leader in the category. The location of the project, which is 20 Km from the center of Addis Ababa is strategic as it is situated in an area where the basic utilities such as electricity, water and telephone lines are already in place.

Performance of the Company

Yes water has grown progressively since launch to become the leading Brand in the market. The total value of sales for the last six months (sep.2013 up to Feb.2014 birr 167,257,109.60 million. The company is already exporting to markets in Sudan, Somaliland, Djibouti and Kuwait. The export market will be extended to Saudi Arabia, Israel and UAE in the near future.

Market study

Endashaw Zeleke

The product has extremely high local and export demand particularly from East African and the Middle East countries. The present local demand for the proposed product is estimated at 511,688 hectoliters per annum. The demand is expected to reach at 697,551 hectoliters by the year 2020. The unsatisfied demand in 2010 was 223,961 hectoliters whereas the demand in the international market was 1.6 billion hectoliters in the same year.

Given the scarcity of potable water and the nature of the surface water and aquifer in the Middle East, it is likely that these countries will remain net importers of water to satisfy their increasing demand. Though there are many alternative suppliers of bottled water to the Middle East, the geographic proximity of the countries to east Africa gives spatial

advantage to the project under consideration over European and American suppliers. These conditions are deemed to create a promising market potential for the envisaged bottled water manufacturing project.

Technical study

The expected capacity from existing production facility has already been reached. The demand has continued to grow to a level where the business has been unable to meet it with the current equipment. With a projected market growth in excess of 40%, this demand is expected to continue and if the business will not invest to match this growth, then it will be making the market attractive for other players to come in and eat into Yes brands market share. With the entry of a JV partner, the business has put together a capacity expansion program that will see the capacity of the current plant doubled once the project is completed.

The project involves a full re-organization of the current packing hall to take more equipment and creation of a finished goods warehouse to take the increased capacity of the plant.

Organization, Management and manpower

The project will be organized in a way that it operates successfully. The top organ in the organizational structure is the managing director who will be assisted by the project manager and six divisions. The divisions are Administrative and Finance, Sales & Marketing, Human Resources, Production, Technical and Quality control. Upon the completion of the expansion, there will be additional resource required and will be recruited as necessary. We expect the expansion to create job opportunities equivalent to 450 people.

Environment Impact Assessment

The project does not cause any hazard to the environment and the workers engaged in the production process.

Financial study

The investment cost estimated at Birr 619,540,000.00. The project cost will be financed from two sources: Shareholder accounts the lion's share of birr 444,540,000.00 and the remaining balance of Birr 175,000,000.00 will be financed from the Bank loan. The projected profit and loss statement shows that a net profit at initial will be Birr 91.9 million which will increase to Birr 104 million at the 5th year.

The cash flow projection also shows a positive incremental cumulative cash balance throughout the project's life. The cash balance at the first year is estimated at Birr 64.3 million and this steadily rises to cumulative balance of Birr 340 million at the 5th year. The after tax internal rate of return of the project is 57% which is greater than the lending rate. Likewise, sensitivity test is carried out by reducing revenue at 38%, increasing operating costs at 45% and investment cost at 51%. Such adverse circumstances will not significantly affect the project. The analysis shows that the project is profitable venture with minimum risk. This has been proven for the last four years. Based on this consideration the business has invested heavily in expanding the production capability. Assistance of the banks will be required to fund the working capital of the expanded business.

Product Description and Application

According to Quality and Standard Authority of Ethiopia (QSAE), industrially processed and bottled water can be classified into two major groups: bottled drinking water (ES 597:2001) and mineral water (ES 621:2001). The former is further classified into carbonated "sparkling" natural water and non-carbonated "still" natural water. If water has been made after possible treatment, effervescent by addition of carbon dioxide then it is called carbonated natural water. Non-carbonated water is by nature and after possible treatment does not contain free CO₂, in excess of the amount necessary to keep dissolved the hydrogen carbonates salts that are present in the water. In this study, both types of water have been considered.

Globalization and the advancement in technology has become the assurance for businesses today and the manufacturing sector is no exception. Manufacturing companies have been expanding their operations and activities beyond the domestic borders as a result of globalization and improved technology. The expansion of business, globalization and the advanced technology also exposes business to increased risk, fraud, altercations and other irregularities. This has made internal controls an imperative system to maintain by every business and for that matter the manufacturing sector. Globalization of businesses, technological advancements, increasing risk of business failures, the fraud and altercations that emerged in the manufacturing sector in Africa call for the proper maintenance of an effective internal control systems.

The United States of America and governments, regulators and nations have encouraged nations and corporate organizations to place more emphasis on their internal control systems and internal auditing functions and risk management (Mercer University, 2010: Online). The internal control critical that has hit the world's most developed economies recently is a clear indication of the failure of the system to hold in check some of the excesses in our haste to satisfy our profit making agenda and to outdo one another in competition. These internal control problem which affected the mainly the developed countries manufacturing industries results are being felt by the developing countries of which Yes Brands Food and Beverage is no exception.

National industrial policy frameworks and implementation capacities, infrastructure development, institutional capacity and the overall commitment and efforts of the private manufacturing enterprises are considered as key for industrial sector development and structural transformation. Acknowledging this, the Ethiopian government is creating a business-enabling environment, through developing the required infrastructures and providing generous investment incentives, including; the provision of bank loans at preferential rates and tax holidays.

Besides to infrastructure development, the government has also undertaken various macro-economic reforms that support industrial expansion and structural transformation.

At a micro level, international development partners have been providing considerable support, both technical and financial, for the manufacturing enterprises, in improving firm-level productivity and enhancing international competitiveness.

The Ministry of Industry (MoI) has also implemented various activities to strengthen its regulatory capacity and the capacities of the institutes under it. Over the past decade, it has implemented various institutional restructuring and capacity building activities.

However, the capacity building activities that the MoI has implemented have been insufficient and disconnected. The MoI's capacity for developing sectoral and sub-sectoral strategies and regulatory laws is still inadequate. For instance, the long awaited investment and export promotion law of the country has yet to be put into practice, largely due to the inability of the Ministry to develop the implementation strategy. The MoI's institutional capacity gaps have varying aspects. One key gap relates to the skills base. The technical, marketing and industrial management skills of existing employees of the federal and regional bureaus of industry are low. Employees have no access to periodic or regular training and their general skill level is very low.

Internal controls and risk managements, the purpose to ensure effectiveness and efficiency of operational activities, reliability of financial information, compliance with applicable rules and regulations and sustainable business growth have been incorporated into the ordinary activities of manufacturing industries in Ethiopia.

Internal controls are to be an integral part of any organization's financial and business policies and procedures. Internal controls consist of all the measures taken by the organization for the purpose of;

- 1 Protecting its resources against waste, fraud, and inefficiency;
- 2 Ensuring accuracy and reliability in accounting and operating data;
- 3 Securing compliance with the policies of the organization; and
- 4 Evaluating the level of performance in all organizational units of the organization.

Internal controls are simply good business practices. (Kansas State University - USA June 30, 2003)

For some time now, risk management in general and internal control more specifically; have been considered as fundamental elements of organizational governance. As a consequence, risk management is beginning to be perceived as a new means of strategic business management, linking business strategy to daily risks and then optimizing those risks in order to realize value (Saarens and de Beelde 2006.) In the United States for instance in 1992, a group of companies sponsored the formation of the treadway commission to study and report on how to improve on the effectiveness of internal control systems, and more recently in 2002 the US congress passed the Sarbanes Oxley act giving new directives on how companies are to report on the effectiveness or otherwise of their internal control systems. (Circular 123 spring 2005, KPMG LLP).

The ministry of industry Ethiopia in playing the regulatory role has come out with measures to help regulate the functioning of the manufacturing industries to improve on the effectiveness of their internal control systems and risk management. The Ethiopian government developed an export-led industrial development strategy in 2002. It even tried to incorporate import substitution into the policy, later on. However, the supporting rules, regulations and procedures are either insufficient or inconsistent with the ruling development strategy.

In addition to the need for refinement and updating, the strategy lacks supportive legislations and policies. At present, most development policy analysts, regulatory agencies and industry actors are in favor of developing a rather balanced industrial development strategy, which provides equal emphasis on both import substitution and export promotion. Therefore, there is a need for a revision of the existing policy framework.

In spite of the government's initiative of building industrial zones, the MoI has not yet developed the management framework of these potential development districts. Such a framework includes, among others, the eligibility criteria for land acquisition, land lease and other service fee rates, as well as mode of payment, and security, social and environmental management guidelines.

The MoI and the regional industry and investment bureaus have not yet developed an integrated approach that enables them to proactively solve problems that may be faced by the manufacturing enterprises. For instance, the absence of pre-planned power request and regular follow-up, to comply with the requirements of the Ethiopian Electric Power Corporation (EEPCO), has had a huge impact on the project implementation performance of individual manufacturing industries.

To redress all these problems, the MoI ought to implement a comprehensive capacity building program. And this program ought to rightly correspond to the key institutional gaps of the sector.

Implementing regular staff training and skills development programs, at both the federal and regional levels, is one essential area of intervention. Such an intervention will enhance the staff's working attitude and motivation in their respective duties.

As part of improving their internal control systems, internal auditing function, and reducing risk, most manufacturing industries in the country have put in place mechanisms to ensure internal control and compliance in the regulatory role. These include setting up an internal audit unit, a monitoring unit and issuing the Accounting, Treasury and Financial Reporting Rules. It is therefore in this light that this project work is being carried out to assess the effectiveness of internal control system and how the internal auditor perceives his or her role in risk management in the manufacturing sector.

1.2 Statement of the Research Problem

The growth and the development of the private manufacturing companies are highly dependent on the effective and efficient internal control of its own performance. Under the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) Framework, the objective setting is considered a precondition to internal control. By setting objectives, management can then identify risks to the achievement of those

objectives. To address these risks, management of organizations may implement specific internal controls. The effectiveness of internal control then be measured by how well the objectives are achieved can how effectively the risks are addressed.

More generally, setting objectives, budgets, plans and other expectations establish criteria for control. Control itself exists to keep performance or a state of affairs within what is expected, allowed or accepted. Control built within a combination of interrelated components such as a social environment affecting behavior of employees, information, necessary internal control, and policies and procedures. Internal control structure is a plan determining how internal control consists of these elements. The concepts of corporate governance also heavily rely on the necessity of internal controls. Internal controls help to ensure that processes operate as a designed and that risk responses (risk treatments) in risk management are carried out. In addition, there needs to be in place circumstances ensuring that the aforementioned procedures will be performed as intended: right attitudes, integrity and competence, and monitoring by managers.

To ensure the effective and efficient managements of private manufacturing industry, internal controls are normally put in place. In the manufacturing sector to enhance the effectiveness and efficiency on internal control systems various rule and procedure have been put in place by the private manufacturing company and the government instution. These legislations include the Financial Regulations of the Council of Ministers (No 17/1997) and Article 68 of the Proclamation on Financial Administration (No. 57/1996) establishes the basis for internal audit and internal control of the Government of Ethiopia.

Notwithstanding, internal controls only provide reasonable assurance, not absolute assurance. This is because it is people who operate the internal controls, breakdowns can occur, human error, deliberate circumvention, management override, and improper collusion among people who are suppose to act independently can cause failures of the internal control to achieve objectives.

This case study is to assess the extent of failures caused by humans to the internal controls and effectiveness of internal controls in risk management in the manufacturing industries with a particular reference to Yes Brands Food and Beverage plc.

1.3 Research Questions

Related to the problem, the research seeks to address the following questions

- 1 How does the internal control systems at Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC look like?
- 2 How conscious are employees or staff about internal control in Yes Brands?
- 3 How effective are the internal control systems in Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC?
- 4 What measures need to be adopted to enhance the effectiveness of internal control systems in Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC?

1.4 The Objectives of the Study

In an attempt to address the above research questions, on the basis this following specific objective were set

- 1 To study if there is an appropriate internal control in Yes Brands Food and Beverage plc.
- 2 To examine the consciousness of employees of Yes Brands Food and Beverage plc.
- 3 To examine the measures adopted to enhance the effectiveness of internal Controls in Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC management.
- 4 To recommend appropriate policy measures that will improve the effectiveness of internal controls in managing risk.

1.5 Significance of the Research

This research work provides a basis or a conceptual framework and standard against which companies could assess their internal control system and judge their effectiveness. In other words, the study is to provide common language, understanding and a practical way for companies to assess and improve their internal control systems.

To the researcher studying on the same subject, it will provide way of delving into what this research could not cover considering its limitations. The results of this study will help the manufacturing industries to sit up in following the control measures in their day to day management of their activities internal control system.

Though this research is to partially fulfill an academic requirement for the award of MBA in accounting and finance, it is expected that recommendations will be provided to complement the policies by the regulatory bodies and the efforts of the manufacturing industries in addressing problems of default and the unnecessary legal struggles that characterizes internal control system in private manufacturing business.

1.6 Limitations of the Study

Even though this research is to find the effect of internal control on the performance of manufacturing business in Ethiopia the scope of the research does not give findings that can be generalized. There are also resource constraints, in terms of time and logistics as well as the difficulties in accessing data.

1.7 Organization of the Study

The study is presented in five Chapters. Chapter one includes background of the study, the profile of Yes Brands Food and Beverage Private Limited Company, the problem statement, research question, objectives of the research, the significant of the study, and the limitation of the study. Chapter two is the literature review which includes the definitions of internal control, internal controls objectives, types of internal controls, components of internal control, internal control evaluation, parties responsible for internal controls, internal controls are weak.

Chapter three consist of the research design, population under study, sampling techniques, sources of data, research instruments and method of data analysis. Chapter four focuses on data presentation and data analysis. Chapter five is the summary of findings, conclusion and recommendations.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter presents the view of other authorities and theories on the topic. It also tries to unfold the key terms that have been used in this project work.

2.1 Definition of Terms

In accounting and auditing, internal control is defined as a process affected by an organization's structure, work and authority flows, people and management information systems, designed to help the organization accomplish specific goals or objectives. (COSO Definition of Internal Control) It is a means by which an organization's resources are directed, monitored, and measured. It plays an important role in preventing and detecting fraud and protecting the organization's resources, both physical (e.g., machinery and property) and intangible (e.g., reputation or intellectual property such as trademarks). At the organizational level, internal control objectives relate to the reliability of financial reporting, timely feedback on the achievement of operational or strategic goals, and compliance with laws and regulations. At the specific transaction level, internal control refers to the actions taken to achieve a specific objective (e.g., how to ensure the organization's payments to third parties are for valid services rendered.) internal control procedures reduce process variation, leading to more predictable outcomes. Internal control is a key element of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) of 1977 and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which required improvements in internal control in United States public corporations. Internal controls within business entities are also referred to as operational controls.

Internal controls have existed from ancient times. In Hellenistic Egypt there was a dual administration, with one set of bureaucrats charged with collecting taxes and another with supervising them. Martin Van Creveld 1999. *The Rise and Decline of the State*. Cambridge University Press. pp. 49.)

There are many definitions of internal control, as it affects the various constituencies (stakeholders) of an organization in various ways and at different levels of aggregation.

Under the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) internal control -Integrated Framework, a widely-used framework in the United States, internal control is broadly defined as a process, affected by an entity's board of directors, management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in the following categories:

- Effectiveness and efficiency of operations;
- Reliability of financial reporting;
- Compliance with laws and regulations.

The COSO definition relates to the aggregate control system of the organization, which is composed of many individual control procedures.

Discrete control procedures or *controls* are defined by the SEC as: "...a specific set of policies, procedures, and activities designed to meet an objective. A control may exist within a designated function or activity in a process. A control's impact may be entitywide or specific to an account balance, class of transactions or application. Controls have unique characteristics - for example, they can be: automated or manual; reconciliations; segregation of duties; review and approval authorizations; safeguarding and accountability of assets; preventing or detecting error or fraud. Controls within a process may consist of financial reporting controls and operational controls (that is, those designed to achieve operational objectives)."(SEC Interpretive Guidance)

According to A. H. Millichamp (2002), Internal Control System is defined as the whole system of controls, financial and otherwise, established by the management in order to carry on the business of safeguard the assets and secure as far as possible the completeness and accuracy of the records. He further analyzed the redefinition as follows;

- 1 The whole system: internal control can be seen as a whole or single system. The whole is more than the sum of parts.
- 2 Financial and otherwise: the distinction is not important. Perhaps the financial would include the use of control accounts and otherwise may include physical access restrictions to computer terminals.
- 3 Established by Management: internal controls are established by management, either through consultant (external) or internal through internal audit.
- 4 Ensure Adherence to Management Policies: management has express policies such as budget and the adherence of budget can be achieved through the procedures such as variance analysis.
- 5 Safeguard Assets: allowing assets to be stolen or broken is unacceptable and procedures are always put in place to safeguard assets.
- 6 Secure completeness: to check that transactions are duly recorded, checking that all goods leaving the factory must have a delivery not attached to it.

Besides, Alan G. Hevesi (2005) also defined internal control as the integration of the activities, plans, attitudes, policies, and efforts of the people of an organization working together to provide reasonable assurance that the organization will achieve its objectives and mission.

All the above definitions of internal control systems have identified the main objectives of internal controls to be the assurance that organizational resources will be put to economic, efficient and effective use in order to achieve the objectives for which the organization was set up.

The term internal control encompasses all the methods, procedures and arrangements adopted within an organization to ensure as far as possible the safeguarding of assets, the completeness, accuracy and liability of the accounting records and the promotion of operational efficiency and adherence to management policies (Okai, 1996).

However, in the context of this project work internal control shall be defined as recommended by COSO that is a process affected by an entity's board of directors, management and other personal, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in the following categories.

- Effectiveness and efficiency of operations in Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC
- Reliability and accuracy of financial reporting
- Compliance with applicable laws and regulation

2.2 Internal Control Objectives

Internal Control objectives are desired goals or conditions for a specific event cycle which, if achieved, minimize the potential that waste, loss, unauthorized use or misappropriation will occur. They are conditions which we want the system of internal control to satisfy. For a control objective to be effective, compliance with it must be measurable and observable. (Mercers University).

Internal Audit evaluates Mercer's system of internal control by accessing the ability of individual process controls to achieve seven pre-defined control objectives. The control objectives include authorization, completeness, accuracy, validity, physical safeguards and security, error handling and segregation of duties.

Authorization

The objective is to ensure that all transactions are approved by responsible personnel in accordance with specific or general authority before the transaction is recorded.

Completeness

The objective is to ensure that no valid transactions have been omitted from the accounting records.

Accuracy

The objective is to ensure that all valid transactions are accurate, consistent with the originating transaction data and information is recorded in a timely manner.

Validity

The objective is to ensure that all recorded transactions fairly represent the economic events that actually occurred, are lawful in nature, and have been executed in accordance with management's general authorization.

Physical Safeguards & Security

The objective is to ensure that access to physical assets and information systems are controlled and properly restricted to authorized personnel.

Error handling

The objective is to ensure that errors detected at any stage of processing receive prompt corrective action and are reported to the appropriate level of management.

Segregation of Duties

The objective is to ensure that duties are assigned to individuals in a manner that ensures that no one individual can control both the recording function and the procedures relative to processing the transaction.

A well designed process with appropriate internal controls should meet most, if not all of these control objectives.

2.3 Types of Internal Control Systems

Different writers have come with different types of internal control systems. Milichamp (2002) puts the types of internal controls as; Safeguarding assets, Separation of duties, supervision, Verification, Approval and authorization, Documentation, Safeguarding Assets, and Reporting.

However, many other authors such as Dr Lousteau (2006), the state university of New York and diNapoli (2005) have agreed that the types of internal controls includes directive controls, preventive controls, compensating controls, detective controls, and corrective actions. These types of internal controls are explained below.

2.3.1 Directive Controls

Directive Controls relate to policies and put in place by top management to promote compliance with independence rules. To ensure compliance with directive controls, a clear, consistent message from management that policies and procedures are important must permeate the organization. They provide evidence that a loss has occurred but do not prevent a loss from occurring. Examples of detective controls are reviews, analyses, variance analyses, reconciliation, physical inventories, and audits. However, detective controls play critical role providing evidence that the preventive controls are functioning and preventing losses. Control activities include approvals, authorizations, verifications, reconciliation, and reviews of performance, security of assets, segregation of duties, and controls over information systems. (Di Napoli 1999).

2.3.2 Preventive Control

Preventive controls relate to measures taken by a firm to deter noncompliance with policies and procedures. They are proactive controls that help to prevent a loss. Examples of preventive controls are separation of duties, proper authorization, adequate documentation and physical control over assets, Dr Lousteau (2006)

2.3.3 Compensating Controls

Compensating controls are intended to make up for a lack of controls elsewhere in the system. For example, firms with an electronic database could maintain a hard copy of the client list in the office library. Such a list would compensate for downtime in electronic systems and difficulties in locating client names in an electronic system. While the list would have to be reprinted from time to time to add new clients would mitigate some of the obsolescence that exists with hard copies. University of New York (200%).

2.3.4 Detective Controls

Directive controls are aimed at uncovering problems after they have occurred. Although necessary in a good internal control system, detection of an independence violation after the fact is less desirable than prevention in the first place. Detective controls rarely work well as a deterrent in the absence of severe penalties Dr Lousteau (2006).

2.4 Components of Internal Control

COSO defines internal control as having five components:

- Control Environment-sets the tone for the organization, influencing the control consciousness of its people. It is the foundation for all other components of internal control.
- **Risk Assessment**-the identification and analysis of relevant risks to the achievement of objectives, forming a basis for how the risks should be managed
- **Information and Communication**-systems or processes that support the identification, capture, and exchange of information in a form and time frame that enables people to carry out their responsibilities
- Control Activities-the policies and procedures that help ensure management directives are carried out.

• **Monitoring**-processes used to assess the quality of internal control performance over time.

These components are explained further in detail;

2.4.1 Control Environment

This sets the tone for the organization, influencing the control consciousness of its people. It is the foundation for all other components of internal control. The control environment reflects the board of directors' and management's commitment to internal control. It provides discipline and structure to the control system. Elements of the control environment include the organization structure of the institution, management's philosophy and operating style, the integrity, ethics, and competence of personnel, the external influences that effect the organization's operations and risk management practices, the attention and direction provided by the board of directors and its committees and the effectiveness of human resources policies and procedures. (Administrator of National Banks, Comptroller's Hand Book 2001), Hevesi (2005) however considers the Control environment to be the attitude toward internal control and control consciousness established and maintained by the management and employees of an organization. It is a product of management's governance that is its philosophy, Style and supportive attitude, as well as the competence, ethical values, integrity and morale of the people of the organization. The control environment encompasses the attitudes and actions regarding control.

This environment sets the organizational tone, influences control consciousness, and provides and foundation for an effective system of internal control. The control environment also provides the discipline and structure for achieving the primary objectives of internal control. (Lannoye 1999). Flowing from the above the board of directors should show concern for integrity and ethical values. There must be a code of conduct and/or ethics policy and this must be adequately communicated to all levels of organization. Also there must be a structure appropriate, which is not dominated by one or a few individuals and an effective oversight by the board of directors or audit committee.

Management also needs to put a mechanism in place to regularly educate and communicate to management and employee the importance on internal controls, and to raise their level of understanding of controls.

2.4.2 Risk Assessment

This is the identification and analysis of relevant risks to the achievement of objectives, forming a basis for how the risks should be managed. According to Lannoye (1999) this component of internal control highlights the importance of management carefully identifying and evaluating factors that can preclude it from achieving its mission. Risk assessment is a systematic process for integrating professional judgment about probable adverse conditions and events, and assessing the likelihood of possible losses (financial and non-financial) resulting from their occurrence. The second internal control standard addresses risk assessment. A precondition to risk assessment is the establishment of clear, consistent agency goals and objectives have been set, the agency needs to identify the risks that could impede the efficient and effective achievement of those objectives at the entity level and the activity level. Internal control should provide for an assessment of the risks the agency faces from both internal and external sources. Once risks have been identified, they should be analyzed for their possible effect. Management then has to formulate an approach for risk management and decide upon the internal control activities required to mitigate those risks and achieve the internal control objectives of efficient and effective operations, reliable financial reporting, and compliance with laws and regulations.

Risk Identification

Management should perform a comprehensive analysis of identifiable risk, including all risks associated with department-wide and activity level objective (derived from the organization's mission). The activities analyzed should include those that support both financial and non-financial objectives. Management must consider the significant interactions with external organizations as well as those internal to their organization at both the department-wide and activity levels. Several means of risk identification can be

used, including; management planning conferences, strategic planning, periodic reviews of factors effecting department's activities, changing needs or expectations of agency officials or the public and natural catastrophes. (Lannoye, 1999)

Risk Analysis

After identifying department-wide and activity level risk, management should perform a risk analysis. The methodology may vary since risks are difficult to quantify; however, the process generally includes the following:

- Estimating risk significance
- assessing likelihood/frequency of occurrence
- Considering how to manage risk

Risk with little significance and low probability of occurrence may require special attention. After assessing the significance and likelihood of risk, management must determine how to control it. Approaches may differ among agencies, but they must be designed to maintain risk within levels deemed appropriate by management, considering the concepts of reasonable assurance and cost-benefit. Once implemented, the approach should be continually monitored for effectiveness. (Lannoye, 1996)

Managing Risk during Change

When change occurs in an organization it often affects the control activities that were designed to prevent or reduce risk. In order to properly manage risk, management should monitor any change to ensure that each risk continues to be managed as change occurs. Management should inform employees responsible for managing the organization's most critical risks about any proposed changes that may affect their ability to manage those risks. Managers should continually monitor the factors that can affect the risks they have already identified as well as other factor that could create new risks. (Walker 1999).

2.4.3 Information and Communication

According to the fourth internal control standard, for an agency to run and control its operations, it must have relevant, reliable information, both financial and non-financial, relating to external as well as internal events. That information should be recorded and communicated to management and others within the agency who need it and in a form and within a time frame that enables them to carry out their internal control and operational responsibilities. (Steihoff 2001) Hevesi (@0050 information and communication are essential to effective control. Information about an organization's plans, control environment, risks, control activities, and performance must be communicated up, down, and across an organization. Reliable and relevant information from both internal and external sources must be identified, captured, processed, and communicated to the people who need it in a form and timeframe that are useful.

According to the comptroller's Handbook (2001), accounting, information, and communication systems capture and impart pertinent and timely information in a form that enables the board, management, and employees to carry out their responsibilities. Accounting systems are the methods and records that identify, assemble, analyze, classify, record, and report on transaction. Information and communication systems enable all personnel to understand their roles in the control system, how their roles relate to others, and their accountability. The entity must be able to prepare accurate and timely financial report including interim reports. The board of directors and management must ensure that they receive accurate and timely information to allow them to fulfill their responsibilities. Management must also provide written job descriptions and reference manuals that describe the duties of personnel.

2.4.4 Control Activities

The policies and procedures that help ensure management directives are carried out. According to the Administrator of National Banks, (2001), control activities are the policies, procedures, and practices established to help ensure that an organization's personnel carry out board and management directives at every business level through the

organization. These activities help ensure that the board and management act to control risks that could prevent an organization from attaining its objectives. The New York State comptroller (1999) defined control activities as tools - both manual and automated - that help identify, prevent or reduce the risks that can impede accomplishment of the organization's objectives. Management should establish control activities that are effective and efficient. According to Walker (1999) control activities occur at all levels and functions of the entity. They include a wide range of diverse activities such as approvals, authorizations, verifications, reconciliations, performance reviews, maintenance of security, and the creation and maintenance of related records which provide evidence of execution of these activities as well as appropriate documentation. He provided the following as example of control activities

- 1 Top level reviews of actual performance,
- 2 Reviews by management at the functional or activity level,
- 3 Management of human capital,
- 4 Controls over information processing,
- 5 Physical controls over vulnerable assets,
- 6 Establishment and review of performance measures and indicators,
- 7 Segregation of duties,
- 8 Proper executions of transaction and events,
- 9 Accurate and timely recording of transactions and events,
- 10 Access restrictions to and accountability for resources and records, and
- 11 Appropriate documentation of transactions

2.4.5 Monitoring

Monitoring is the assessment of internal control performance over time; it is accomplished by ongoing monitoring activities and by separate evaluations of intern control such as self-assessments, peer reviews, and internal audits. The purpose of monitoring is to determine whether internal control is adequately designed, properly executed, and effective. Internal control is adequately designed and properly executed if all five internal control components (Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Control Activities, Information and Communication, and Monitoring) are present and functioning as designed. Springer (2004). Periodic evaluations of internal control are made and personnel, in carrying out their regular duties, obtain evidence as to whether the system of internal control continues to function. Management should implements internal control recommendations made by internal and independent auditors, corrects known deficiencies on a timely basis, and responds appropriately to reports and recommendations regulators. There must also an internal audit function that management uses to assist in their monitoring activities. In Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC there is the internal audit and monitoring units that carries out the functions of monitoring internal controls.

2.5 Internal Control Evaluation

DiNapoli (1999) defined evaluation is the process management uses to assess whether an organization's operations are effective in achieving its mission. The purposes of evaluation are to provide management with a reasonable assurance that; the organization's systems of internal According to Louwers (2002) the five components of internal control are considered to be the criteria for evaluating a financial reporting control and the bases for the auditors' assessment a control risks in term of;

- Understanding a client's financial reporting controls and documenting that understanding,
- Preliminarily assessing the control risk, and
- Testing the controls, reassessing control risk, and using that assessment to plan the remainder of the audit work.

2.5.1 Effectiveness of Internal Control

A judgment as to whether an entity's internal control is effective is based on considering the extent to which the components are present and operating effectively. Effective functioning of all the components provides reasonable assurance as to achievement of one or more of the three categories of objectives.

Internal control may be judged effective for each of the three categories of internal control objectives if the board of directors and management have reasonable assurance that;

- 12 They understand the extent to which they entity's operations objectives are being achieved.
- 13 Published financial statements are being prepared reliably,
- 14 Applicable laws and regulations are being complies with.

Effectiveness of internal control depends on the presence of all the components of internal control working together. No two entities are likely to have the same internal control system.

Nevertheless, even though entities may not respond to similar risks in the same way, the basic components contributing to an entity's being in control need to be satisfied.

For the financial reporting objective there is a more detailed criterion, namely, the material weakness concept. A material weakness is defined as follows:

A condition in which the design or operation of one or more components of internal control does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that errors or irregularities in amount that would be material to the financial statements may occur and not be detected and corrected within a timely period by employees the normal course of performing their assigned duties.

2.5.2 Understand and document the client's Internal Control

A major goal on audits is to be efficient. This means performing the work in minimum time and with minimum cost while still doing high-quality work to obtain sufficient, competent avoidance.

The allocation of work times between control-evaluation and year-end audit work is a lost-benefit trade-off. Generally, the more auditors know about good controls, the less substantive test year-end work they need to do. However, auditors do not necessarily need to determine the actual quality of a company's internal control. They only need to know enough to plan the other work. They can obtain only a minimum understanding of a client's control, assess a high control risk, and perform extensive substantive balance-audit work.

2.5.3 Obtaining an Understanding

This gives auditors an overall acquaintance with the control environment and management's risk assessment, the flow of transactions through the accounting system, and the design of the client's activities. After the audit team gains an understanding of the control environment of the accounting system. That is the flow of transaction. This review should produce general knowledge along the following lines.

- 15 The various classes of significant accounting transaction.
- 16 The types of material errors and fraud that could occur
- 17 Methods, by which each significant class of transactions is; authorized and initiated, documented and recorded, Processed in the accounting system and places in financial reports and disclosures.

Auditors obtain an understanding of internal controls from several sources of information. Minimum requirements for a good control oriented accounting system include a chart of accounts and some written detritions and instructions about measuring and classifying transactions.

2.5.4 Document the Internal Control Understanding

Working papers documentation of a decision to assess risk can consist only of a memorandum of that fact. However for future reference in next year's audit, the memorandum should contain an explanation of the effectiveness-related or efficiency-related reasons. Working paper documentation is required and should include records showing the audit team's understanding of the control. This can be summarized in the form of questionnaires, narratives and flowcharts.

Internal Control Questionnaires. The most efficient means of gathering evidence about the control structure is to conduct a formal interview with knowledgeable managers, using the checklist type of internal control questionnaire. The questionnaire is organized under headings that identify the control environment questions and the questions related to each of the seven control objectives. All questionnaires are not organized like this, so auditors need to know the general transaction control objectives in order to know whether the questionnaire is complete. Internal control questionnaires are designed to help the audit team obtain evidence about the control environment and about the accounting and control activities that are considered good error checking routines. Answers to the questions, however should not be taken as final and definitive evidence about how well control actually functions.

Do native descriptions. One way to tailor these inequity procedures to a particular company is to write a narrative description of each important control subsystem. Such a narrative would simply describe all the environmental elements, the accounting system, and the control activities. The narrative description may efficient in audits of very small businesses.

2.5.5 Assess the control risk

After obtaining an understanding of control and designing a preliminary audit program, the audit team should be able to make a preliminary assessment of the control risk. One way to make the assessment is to analyze the control strengths and weaknesses. Strengths are specific features of good general and application controls. Weaknesses are the lack of controls in particular areas. The auditor's findings and preliminary conclusions should be

written up for the working papers files. Strengths and weaknesses should be documented in a working paper sometimes called a bridge working paper, so called because if corrects the control evaluation to subsequent and it procedures.

2.5.6 Perform Test of Controls audit Procedures and Reassess Control Risk

When auditors reach third phase of an evaluation of internal control, they will have identified specific controls on which risk could be assessed very low. To reduce the final risk assessment to a low level, auditors must determine

- The required degree of company compliance with the control policies and procedures and
- The actual degree of company compliance. The required degree of compliance is the auditor decision criterion for good control performance. Knowing that compliance cannot realistically be expected to be perfect, auditors might decide, for example that evidence of using bills of lading to validate sales invoices is sufficient to assess a low control risk for the audit of accounts receivable

2.5.7 Perform Test of controls audits procedures

At this stage the auditors can perform test of controls procedures to determine how well the company's controls actually functioned during the period under audit. A test of controls audit procedure is a two part statement. Part one is an identification of the data population from which a sample of items will be selected for audit. Part two is an expression of an action taken to produce relevant evidence. In general, the action is to determine whether the selected item correspond to a standard and determine whether the selected items agree with information in another data population. Some test of control procedures involves re-performance. The auditors perform again the arithmetic calculations and the comparisons the company people were supposed to have performed. Test of controls procedures, when performed should be applied to samples of transactions and control activities executed throughout the period under audit. The reason for this requirement is that the conclusions about controls will be generalized at the whole period under audit.

2.5.8 Reassess the Control Risk

Final control risk assessment is complicated. In the sampling modules you will find explanations of sampling methods for performing test of controls procedures. However for an advanced peace at the result, recognized that the final evaluation of a company's internal control is the assessment of the control risk (CR) related to each assertion. Control risk is the element in the audit risk model. AR = IR* CR* DR, where AR is defined as audit Risk, IR as Inherent risk and DR as detection risk. These assessments are an auditors expression for the effectiveness of internal control for preventing, detecting and of internal control for preventing, detecting and correcting specific errors and gauds in management's final statement assertions. Each of these final control risk assessments can be qualitative or quantitative.

An assessment of control risk should be coordinated with the final audit plan. The final account balance audit plan includes the specification of substantive audit procedures to detect material misstatements in account balances and foot notes disclosures.

2.6 Parties Responsible for and Affected by Internal Controls

While all of an organization's people are an integral part of internal control, certain parties merit special mention. These include management, the board of directors (including the audit committee), internal auditors, and external auditors.

The primary responsibility for the development and maintenance of internal control rests with an organization's management. With increased significance placed on the control environment, the focus of internal control has changed from policies and procedures to an overriding philosophy and operating style within the organization. Emphasis on these intangible aspects highlights the importance of top management's involvement in the internal control system. If internal control is not a priority for management, then it will not be one for people within the organization either. As an indication of management's responsibility, top management at a publicly owned organization will include in the organization's annual financial report to the shareholders a statement indicating that management has established a system of internal control that management believes is

effective. The statement may also provide specific details about the organization's internal control system. Internal control must be evaluated in order to provide management with some assurance regarding its effectiveness. Internal control evaluation involves everything management does to control the organization in the effort to achieve its objectives.

Internal control would be judged as effective if its components are present and function effectively for operations, financial reporting, and compliance. The boards of directors and its audit committee have responsibility for making sure the internal control system within the organization is adequate. This responsibility includes determining the extent to which internal controls are evaluated. Two parties involved in the evaluation of internal control are the organization's internal auditors and their external auditors.

Internal auditors' responsibilities typically include ensuring the adequacy of the system of internal control, the reliability of data, and the efficient use of the organization's resources. Internal auditors identify control problems and develop solutions for improving and strengthening internal controls. Internal auditors are concerned with the entire range of an organization's internal controls, including operational, financial, and compliance controls.

Internal control will also be evaluated by the external auditors. External auditors assess the effectiveness of internal control within an organization to plan the financial statement audit. In contrast to internal auditors, external auditors focus primarily on controls that affect financial reporting. External auditors have a responsibility to internal control weaknesses (as well as reportable conditions about internal control) to the audit committee of the board of directors.

2.7 Limitations of Internal Controls

No matter how well internal controls are designed, they can only provide reasonable assurance that objectives have been achieved. Some limitations are inherent in all internal control systems (Mercer University - United States of America (Georgia). These include:

2.7.1 Judgment

The effectiveness of controls will be limited by decisions made with human judgment under pressures to conduct business based on the information at hand. According to Lannoye (1999) Effective internal control may be limited by the realities of human judgment. Decisions are often made within a limited time frame, without the benefit of complete information, and under time pressures of conducting agency business.

These judgment decisions may affect achievement of objectives, with or without good internal control. Internal control may become ineffective with management fails to minimize the occurrence of errors for example misunderstanding instructions, carelessness, distraction, fatigue, or mistakes

2.7.2 Breakdowns

Even well designed internal controls can break down. Employees sometimes misunderstand instructions or simply make mistakes. Errors may also result from new technology and the complexity of computerized information systems.

2.7.3 Management Override

High level personnel may be able to override prescribed policies and procedures for personal gain or advantage. This should not be confused with management intervention, which represents management actions to depart from prescribed policies and procedures for legitimate purposes. With Lannoye, management may override or disregard prescribed policies, procedures, and controls for improper purposes. Override practices include misrepresentations to state officials, staff from the central control agencies, auditors or others. Management override must not be confused with management intervention (i.e. the departure from prescribed policies and procedures for legitimate purposes). Intervention may be required in order to process non-standard transactions that otherwise would be handled inappropriately by the internal control system. A provision for intervention is needed in all internal control systems since no system anticipates every condition.

2.7.4 Collusion

Control systems can be circumvented by employee collusion. Individuals acting collectively can alter financial data or other management information in a manner that cannot be identified by control systems. The effectiveness of segregation of duties lies in individuals' performing only their assigned tasks or in the performance of one person being checked by another.

There is always a risk that collusion between individuals will destroy the effectiveness of segregation of duties. For example an individual received cash receipts from customer can collude with the one who records these receipts in the customers' records in order to steal cash from the entity (Williams 2000).

2.8 What Can Happen When Internal Controls Are Weak Or Non-Existent?

When we recommend improving controls within a department, we often hear three basic arguments for not implementing our recommendations:

- There is not enough staff to have adequate segregation of duties.
- It is too expensive.
- The employees are trusted and controls are not necessary.

These arguments represent pitfalls to unsuspecting management. Each argument is in itself a problem that needs to be resolved.

- The problem of not having enough staff or other resources should be discussed with your supervisor. In most cases, compensating controls can be implemented in situations where one person has to do all of the business-related transactions for a department.
- If implementing a recommended control seems too expensive, be sure to consider the full cost of a fraud that could occur because of the missing control. In addition to any funds that may be lost, consider the cost of time that would have been spent by the

department during the time of an investigation of the matter, and the cost of hiring a new employee. Fraud is always expensive and the prevention of fraud is worth the cost.

• Finally consider the issue of trust. Most employees are trustworthy and responsible, which is an important factor in employee relations and departmental operations.

However, it is also the responsibility of administrators to remain objective. Experience shows that it is often the most trusted employees who are involved in committing frauds.

CHAPTER THREE

RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

This chapter presents the activities and processes that were undertaken to gather data for the research work. It gives full details of how data are collected and processed for this research work. The discussion was centered on the following: Research design, Population under study, sampling techniques, sources of data, research instruments, and method of data analysis.

3.1 Research Design

The research is intended to find out how effective internal control systems in the manufacturing sector of Ethiopia are in reducing risks and ensuring effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws. This is a fact finding exercise, thus a case study is used and as such the survey method of data collection was employed to collect data of qualitative nature.

A survey is a means of questioning a respondent via a collection of questions and instruction for both the respondent and the interviewers. (Cooper and Schindler, 2001) A structured questionnaire was therefore designed to collect the data.

3.2Population under Study

The target population of the study is manufacturing industries in the Oromia Region. However, the study used Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC Oromia Region as the case study.

According to Mr. Peter Karatu Joint manager of Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC, there are four phases (4) phases in the Oromia Region. The target population for this study is the four (4) phases in the region.

3.3 Sample Size

A sample size of 3 phases was drawn from a target population of 4 phases. This sample size has been arrived at by taking 75 % of the target population. Therefore, a purposive sampling technique was used to arrive at the figure. In all, thirty (30) interview schedules were used to interview thirty (30) respondents.

3.4 Sources of Data

Primary and secondary data were employed in the study. Primary data was sourced from the staff of Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC Oromia Regional that is Phase II, Phase II, Phase III and Phase IV. Secondary data was sourced from textbooks, particularly in Auditing and Assurance services, journals and other publications on internal controls, internal auditing and risk management.

3.5 Research Instruments

Questionnaire and interview schedules were administered to the staff of Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC. Oromia Region. In addition to that a review of related literature on internal auditing risk management and internal control systems were also used to gather information for the research work.

3.6 Methods of Data Analysis

In analyzing the data, frequency tables were used as the analytical techniques. Qualitative explanations were made of quantitative data to give meaning to them as well as explain their implications.

From these appropriate recommendations was made on the findings of the research. The results are presented in chapter four of the study.

CHAPTER FOUR

DATA ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION OF RESULTS

This chapter provides information on the data collection procedure adopted, analysis of the data and findings. The responses from the respondents are described, analyses, and inferences made to established relationships.

4.1Background Information on Respondents

With a questionnaire as the main research tool to gather data from the respondents, the first section was intended to gather data on the background of the respondents. Frequency tables are used in analyzing the data gathered from the respondents.

4.1.1 Gender Distribution of Respondents

Out of 30 respondents interviewed 30% were male and 70% female as indicated on table 4.1 .The gender distribution showed that both male and female were represented in the study as shown below.

Table 4.1 Gender Distribution of Respondents

Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
9	30%	30%
21	70%	100%
30	100%	100%
	9 21	9 30% 21 70%

Source: from the field data April 2015

4.1.2 Educational Attainment of respondents

The analysis of this variable revealed that the majority of respondents (53.33%) have both first degree and second degree, 20% had first degree only, 16.67% had Advanced Diploma, and 10% had both Diploma and COC Qualification.

Table 4.2 Educational Attainment of Respondents

Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
First Degree & Second Degree	16	53%	53%
First Degree	6	20%	73%
Advanced Diploma	5	17%	90%
Diploma and COC Qualification	3	10%	100%
Others	-	-	100%
Total	30	100%	100%

Source: from the field data April 2015

4.1.3 Marital status of respondents

The study also took interest of the marital status of the respondents. Of the 30 respondents interviewed, 63% of them were married and 37% are single. This is indicated in table 4.3 below

Table 4.3 marital status of respondents

Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
Married	19	63%	63%
Single	11	37%	100%
Total	30	100%	100%

Source: from the field data April 2015

4.1.4 Job types of respondents

This variable seeks to identify the types of jobs performed by the respondents. In terms of type of jobs performed, majority of the respondents (73%) are performing accounting duties, 20% perform administrative duties and 7% perform auditing tasks. This is shown below in table 4.4

Table 4.4 Types of Job Performed By Respondents

Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
Accounting duties	22	73%	73%
Administrative duties	2	7%	80%
Auditing tasks	6	20%	100%
Total	30	100	100%

Source: from the field data April 2015

4.1.5 Grade/position of respondents

This variable was analyzed to reveal the positions being held by the respondents in their various departments. It revealed that most of the respondents (67%) work at the operation, 10% marketing department whiles 23% managers. The table (4.5) below represents the situation.

Table 4.5 grade of respondents

Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
Operation	20	67%	67%
Marketing	3	10%	77%
Manager	7	23%	100%
	,	2370	
Others	-	-	100%
Total	30	100%	100%

Source: from the field data April 2015

4.2 Data Analysis

4.2.1 Control Environment of Internal Control Systems

This variable was to test the respondent's knowledge of the existence of internal control systems, the type of internal control systems and the people responsible for setting those internal control systems in the organization. All the respondents to the questionnaire acknowledged the existence of internal control systems. This means that information about the existence of internal controls has been well disseminated by the management. Table 4.6 represents a 100% agreement that all the respondents agreed that there an internal control system at Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC. Also the acknowledged the existence of internal control systems enables: Achieving orderly conduct of business, ensure the organization's operations are conducted

effectively and efficiently and in particular they should enable the organization to respond appropriately to **business**, operational, financial, compliance and other risks to achieving its objectives, ensure that the organization and its staff comply with applicable laws and regulations, and that staff comply with internal policies with respect to the conduct of the business, ensure that assets are optimally utilized and stop assets being used inappropriately. They should prevent the organization losing assets through theft or poor maintenance. Table 4.7 represents that the majority (53%) of the respondents responded that the existence of internal control is preventive, 33% directive and 14% detective control. indicated that the internal control systems are set by Head office Management Team. The existence of internal control preventive important to measures taken by a yes brands to deter non noncompliance with policies and procedures .They are proactive controls that help to prevent a loss such as separation of duties, proper authorization, adequate documentation and physical control over assets. The existence of internal control directive To ensure compliance with directive controls, a clear, consistent message from management that policies and procedures are important must permeate the organization. Also the existence of internal control detective 14% it shows uncovering problems after they have occurred and although necessary in a good internal control system, detection of an independence violation after the fact is less desirable than prevention in the first place. For table 4.8 all the respondents indicated that the internal control systems are set by Head office Management Team.

Table 4.6 Existence of Internal control

Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
Yes	30	100%	100%
No	0	0	100%
Total	30	100%	100%

Source: from the field data April 2015

Table 4.7 types of internal controls

Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
Preventive Control	16	53%	53%
Directive control	10	33%	86%
Detective Control	4	14%	100%
Others	-	-	100%
Totals	30	100%	100%

Source: from the field data April 2015

Table 4.8 responsibility for setting up internal control

Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
Phases Management	0	0	0
Team			
Head Office	30	100%	100%
Management Team			
Department	0	0	100%
Management Team			
Others	-	-	100%
Total	30	100%	100%

Source: from the field data April 2015

4.2.2 Risk Assessment of Internal Control Systems

This variable was investigated to find out how the manufacturing industry sector identify, analyses and manage risk that are related to the preparation of financial statements. This covered whether the organization document its objective, whether employees are represented in setting organizational objectives, and whether the organization have establish overall strategies for managing risk. All the respondents said yes, but for the employees representation at the setting of the organizational objectives, majority of the respondents did not respond to that section, indicating that they are not aware whether employees are represented or not. Out of 30 responses, 11 (37%) responded yes to the fact

that employees are represented in the setting of the Yes Brands Food and Beverage objective whiles 19 (63%) gave no response, that is they have no idea as to whether they represented or not. This is shown in table 4.9.

Table 4.9 Employees representation in objective setting

Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
Yes	11	37%	37%
No	-	-	37%
No Response	19	63%	100%
Total	30	100%	100%

Source: from the field data April 2015

4.2.3 Control Activities of Internal Controls Systems

This variable was investigated to see the adequacy of physical security for cash and other assets, the tracking of the organization's equipments to their location. It was also investigated to check whether those who control assets are prohibited from recording them and whether key managers review and approve all financial transactions. This is shown in table 4.10 below.

Table 4.10 Control Activities

Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
Yes	30	100%	100%
No	-	-	100%
Total	30	100%	100%

Source: from the field data April 2015

4.2.4 Information and Communication of Internal Control Systems

Table 4.11 shows that 100% of the respondents agreed that they receive relevant information regarding legislation, regulatory developments economic changes, or external factors that may affect the organization. They also agreed that key information about the organization's operations are identified and regularly reported. Customers complaints are taking seriously and investigated upon.

Table 4.11 Information and Communication of Internal Control Systems

Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
Yes	30	100%	100%
No	0	0	100%
Total	30	100%	100%

Source: from the field data April 2015

4.2.5 Monitoring of Internal Control Systems

This was investigated to check the effectiveness of internal control systems that exist in Yes Brands Food and Beverage plc. All the respondents agreed that the organization's internal control systems are evaluated routinely, that Phases management have complete access to records and the organization has an internal audit unit which visits the phases every month. They also agreed that the internal audit unit report to the head office management team and board of directors. This is illustrated in table 4.12.

Table 4.12 Monitoring of Internal Control System

Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Cum percent (%)
Yes	30	100%	100%
No	-	-	100%
Total	30	100%	100%

Source: from the field data April 2015

In addition to mentioned before periodic evaluation s of internal control are made and personnel, in carrying out their regular duties, obtain evidence as to whether the system of internal control continues to function. Management in Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC should implements internal control recommendation made by internal and independent (external) auditors, corrects known deficiencies on a timely basis, and responds appropriately to reports and recommendations regulators.

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This chapter gives a summary of the findings, conclusions and recommendations of the study.

5.1Summary of Findings

The study revealed the following findings.

Internal control systems do exist at Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC and they are the responsibilities of head office management team. Majority of the respondents said the control systems are preventive. The Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC has well defined organizational structure. Expectations and policies are communicated to staff members.

Employees of Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC are conscious of the internal control system at the work place and relevant information regarding legislation, regulatory developments, economic changes, changes in operation and other external factors that may affect the organization are communicated and explained.

In terms of the measures put in place to enhance compliance, majority of the respondents responded that management oversight responsibility for internal control was the main measure applied for the enhancement of compliance in the sector. Nonetheless, it was revealed that it is the management's responsibility to ensure that control policies and procedures are adhered to.

Most of the respondents saw the internal auditor as the one responsible for monitoring internal control policy compliance.

Demographically it was made known that it is the responsibility of management to assess risk.

Strategies are established for managing risk but employees are unaware whether they are represented in the setting of organizational objectives. There are adequate physical securities for cash and other assets and all equipments can be tracking to their location.

Management was seen as being solely responsible for setting up internal control and that no one particular person was in control of decision or activities. Further, respondent indicated the existence of an internal audit unit but majority of the respondent again said the unit visits their outfit every month.

5.2 Conclusions

The findings confirmed the assertion of the Treadway commission of the committee of sponsoring organizations (COSO), that it is management responsibility to set up the internal control system and that the internal auditor's role is to evaluate the effectiveness or otherwise of the system. Therefore the internal auditor often plays a significant monitoring role, but their offices are at the head office and visit the phases on monthly bases. This in a way makes the influence of the internal control systems rest mostly on the internal audit unit. But for a control system to be described as effective, control policies and procedures must not be under the influence of one person. When such a thing happens that individual can easily override the controls. The objective of the study was to determine whether internal controls and its contribution lead to organizational efficiency and effectiveness. It came out that the effectiveness and efficiency of the internal controls rest on the internal audit unit, which visits the phases on the monthly basis. It also came out that no one individual has influence over control activities/decisions in the Yes Brands Food and Beverage PLC and this confirmed the assertion of the COSO that it is management's responsibility to set up the internal control system and that the internal auditor's role is only to advice.

The research revealed that there are internal control systems in Yes Brands Food and Beverages PLC in particular and the manufacturing sector in general. However, the effectiveness of the internal controls could not be described very effective since monitoring is less effective. In that the internal audit unit whose responsibility is to ensure compliance only visits the phases once a month.

The final conclusion of this study is periodic review internal control system in the organization that provides relevant and credible information that can use to target assistance and inform future assessments. Periodic review activities were conceived to have significant effects on the objectives of the organization.

5.3 Recommendations

The following recommendations are offered to assist in improving on the effectiveness of internal control systems in Yes Brands Food and Beverage plc. Should set internal audit units for each phases across the Oromia region, so that there shall always be the availability of internal audit personnel's to ensure compliance to the internal controls that exist in their organization.

This is to make the internal audit part of the daily activities of the organization to ensure daily compliance to the internal controls but not wait till month. In as much as possible, this office should be part of the phases management team. In doing so, they will report directly to the head office management team. The internal audit personnel should also be rotated at regular intervals to avoid any form of malpractices.

Regarding to the organizational internal control system: Yes Brands determined the various roles and responsibilities with respect to internal controls, including the governing body; management at all levels, employees ,as well as coordinate the collaboration among departments. However there is deed for improvement in the organizational control and management should ensure that no delay occurs while the organizational internal control systems implemented specifically in the financial matters.

Finally the researcher suggests areas for further studies on challenges faced by manufacturing industries in implementing internal control systems

REFERENCES

- A Multiple Case Study. Retrieved in February, 201from www.osc.ny.us/audit/control/standards.htm.
- Aldridge, C.R. Colbert, J. L. (1994). Management's Report on Internal Control, and the Accountant's Response. *Managerial Auditing Journal*. Vol. 9 No 7, 21 28.
- Andy. W (2000), Risk Management. *How to implement Turnbuls, proposal and achieve Sound internal control.* Published by ACCA Students Newsletter November/December 2000.
- Arena M and Azzone G (2005), Enterprise risk Management and Internal audit:
- Basle Committee on banking supervision (1998). Framework for the Evaluation of Internal Control Systems. www.bis.org/publ/bcbs33.pdf.
- Chun, C. (1997). Functions and objectives of Internal Audit and their Underlying conditions. *Managerial Auditing Journal, Vol.* 12,(No4/5), 247-250.
- Deze zoektermen W (2005), <u>Understanding Internal controls</u> a Reference Guide For Managing University Business Practices, http://www.ucop.edu/ctlacct/under- ic.pdf
- DiNapoli T. P. (1999), *Standards of Internal control in New York State Government*. www.d/NewYorkStateComptroller.htm.
- Dittenhofer M. (2001), Internal auditing Effectiveness: *An expansion of present methods, Managerial auditing Journal*, Vol. 6 No 8, 2001 pp. 443-450.
- Fritz H (1998), Watching systems in Action: Security at the Periphery, *Information Management and computer Security*, Vol. 6, (No 4), 155-159.
- Gross. I. (2006), <u>Risk Management and the Role of the audit Committee Head of Internal Audit & Projects</u>, Higher Education funding Council of England.
- Institute of Internal Auditors, (2004) The Role of Internal auditing in Enterprise 0 wide risk Management. Retrieved in November, 2010, from www.iia.org.uk.
- Lander G.P. (2004), What is Sarbanes-Oxley? McGraw-Hill New York, NY10128.

Lannoye .M. A.(1999), Evaluation of internal Controls. Retrieved in, set,2009. www.michighan.gov/documents/gf_master1_26775_7.pdf

Managerial Auditing Journal, Vol. 10 No.6, 17-48.

Merceer University 2010. Retrieved in 11 June 2010 from www.merceruniversity.com

Responsibility for Internal Control.

http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/index.html.

- Sarens. G, & De Beelde (2006), Internal Auditors' Perception About Their Role in Risk Management. A comparison between US and Belgian Companies, *Managerial Audit Journal Vol. 21* No 1 2006. 63-80.
- Spira .L.F & Page .M. (2003), Risk Management: The Reinvention of Internal Control and the Changing Role of Internal Audit Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal, Vol.16 No.4.640-661.
- Springer L.M (2004), Revisions to OMB Circular A-123, Management's
- The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales (1999), Internal Controls:

 Guidance for directors on the combined Code.

 www.icaew.co.uk/internalcontrol
- The Institute of Internal Auditors (2004), *International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing*, Retrieved in Jan, 2009From www.theiia.org.
- United Sates General Accounting Office (1999), Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government. www.goa/special.pubc/ai00021p.pdf
- United Sates General Accounting Office (2001), Internal Control Management and Evaluation Tool. Also available @ www.goa.gov.news.items/d011008g.pdf Vanasco RR. (1995), Reporting on the entity's control structure: an international perspective.
- Walker. D. M. (1999), Standards for Internal Control in Federal Government. Retrieved in, June, 2010, from www.gao.gov/special.pubs/ai00021p.pdf.
- Whittington. R & Pany. K. (2004), <u>Principles of Auditing and Other Assurance</u>

 <u>Services</u>, Fourteenth Edition, McGraw-Hill/Irwin, 1221 Avenue of the Americas, New York, 100020.

- William F.M. Jr (2009), <u>Auditing and Assurance Service</u>, <u>A Systematic</u>

 <u>Approach</u>, 2nd Edition, McGraw-Hill/Irwin, United States of America.
- Yang .D C. & Guan. L.(2004), The Evaluation of IT Auditing and Internal Control Standards in Financial Statement Audits, The case of United States, Managerial Auditing Journal, Vol. 19 No 4, 2004 .544-555.
- Zabihollah .R. (1995), What the COSO Report Means for Internal Auditors, Managerial Auditing Journal, Vol.10, No 6.5-9.

APPENDIX

ST. MARY'S UNVERSITY SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES

QUESTIONNAIRE FOR MASTERS (MBA) IN ACCOUNTING AND

FINANCE

This questionnaire is on the research topic, internal control and its contribution to organizational efficiency and effectiveness, the case of Yes Brands Food and Beverage limited, Oromia Region, and is in partial fulfillment of a Master Degree in Accounting and Finance. I would be very grateful if you could provide appropriate response to the questions below. The information you provide will be treated with strict confidence as expected. Thank you

BACKGROUND OF RESPONDENTS

(1) Gender
Male []
Female []
(2) Educational attainment
Have both 1 st and 2 nd degree []
Had first Degree only []
Had Advanced Diploma []
Had both Diploma and COC Qualification []
Others (specify)
(3) Marital status
Married []
Single []
(4) Job Type
Accounting Duties []
Administrative Duties []
Auditing Tasks []

(5) Grade/position						
Operations	[]				
Marketing]]				
Manager	[]				
Others (specify)						
Section B						
CONTROL ENVIRONM	1EN	NT OF I	NTI	ERN	ΑL	L CONTROL SYSTEMS
(6) Are there any internal of Limited Company?	cont	trol syste	ms i	in Y	es I	Brands Food and Beverage Private
a. Yes []		b. No		[]	
(7) If yes, what are they?						
a. Preventive []						
b. Directive []						
c. Detective []						
d. Other						
(8) Who is responsible for	r set	tting then	n up	?		
a. Phases management tea	m		[]		
b. Head office managemen	ıt te	am	[]		
c. Department managemen	ıt te	am		[]	
c. Other						

Endashaw Zeleke June, 2015 Page 54

(9) Is the organizational structure in Yes Brands Food and Beverage Private Limited Company clearly defined?
a. Yes [] b. No []
(10) Have all important expectations or "policies" been formalized and communicated to your personnel?
a. Yes [] b. No []
Section C
RISK ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS
(11) Are there documented objectives for all key activities of the organization?
a. Yes [] b. No []
(12) Were all employee levels in the organization represented in establishing the objectives?
a. Yes [] b. No []
(13) Have overall strategies for managing important risks been established?
a. Yes [] b. No []
(14) Have specific assignments and activities necessary to implement the strategies been identified and communicated to the responsible employees?
a. Yes [] b. No []
Section D
CONTROL ACTIVITIES OF INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS
(15) Do you provide adequate physical security for cash and other assets subject to theft?
a. Yes [] b. No []

Endashaw Zeleke June, 2015 Page 55

(16) Do you tra	ack the location and use of a	ıll equipmeı	nt?
a. Yes []	b. No []
(17) Are indiv	iduals who control assets pro	ohibited from	m also recording transactions related
to those assets	?		
a. Yes []	b. No []
(18) Do you or	your key managers review	and approv	e all financial transactions?
a. Yes []	b. No []
Section E			
INFORMATI SYSTEMS	ON AND COMMUNICA	FION OF I	NTERNAL CONTROL
(19) Do you re	ceive relevant information r	regarding le	gislation, regulatory developments,
economic c	hanges, or similar external f	actors that i	may affect your organization?
a. Yes []	b. No	
(20) Is key info	ormation about your organiz	ation's oper	ations identified and regularly
reported?			
a. Yes []	b. No	p[]
(21) Have you	communicated your organiz	zation's stan	dards and expectations to key
outside groups	or individuals?		
a. Yes [1	b. N	No []
(22) Are client	complaints taken seriously,	investigate	d, and acted upon?
a. Yes [1		b. No []

Section F

MONITORING OF INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

(23) Do you routinely evaluate the overall ef	fectiveness of your internal control system?
a. Yes []	b. No []
(24) Do the phase management and its repres	sentatives have complete access to records?
a. Yes []	b. No []
(25) How often do you normally prepare rep	orts and other returns to management?
a. Monthly []	
b. Quarterly []	
c. Half-Yearly []	
d. Other	
(26) Does the Yes Brands have an internal a	audit unit?
a. Yes []	b. No []
(27) How many times did the internal audit v	visit your management accounts last year?
a. Once	
b. Twice []	
c. Quarterly []	
d. Other	··

(28) What kind of report does the internal audit unit issue anytime they visit?
a. Compliance
b. Detective
c. Preventive
d. Other
(29) To whom does the internal auditor report?
a. Audit report implementation committee
b. Phases Management Team
c. Head Office Management Team
d. Department Management Team
e. Other
(30) Who is chiefly responsible for ensuring that internal control measures are adhered to?
a. Phases Management Team []
b. Head Office Management Team []
c. Department Management Team []
d Other

THANK YOU A LOT FOR YOUR TIME!!!